
 

95 Perry Street, Suite 403 • Buffalo, New York 14203 • ph. 716.856.6525 • fx. 716.856.6754 • www.ecidany.com 

 

 

 
Erie County Industrial Development Agency 

Meeting of the Membership 

November 30, 2022 

at 12:00 p.m. 

 

701 Ellicott Street, Center of Excellence in Bioinformatics and Life Sciences (CBLS) 

The Event Space/Conference Room B2-205, located on the 2nd floor, Buffalo, New York 14203 

 
 

 

1.0 Call to Order 

 

 1.1 Call to Order Meeting of the Membership    

 

2.0 Approval of Minutes: 

 

 2.1 Minutes of the October 26 2022 Meeting of the Membership (Action Item) (Pages 2-7) 

3.0 Reports / Action Items / Information Items: 

  

3.1 Financial Report (Informational) (Pages 8-11) 

3.2 2022 Tax Incentives Induced/Closing Schedule (Informational) (Pages 12-13) 

3.3 Modification to 2009 Bond for Norstar (Action Item) (Pages 14-28) 

3.4 Videoconferencing Procedures (Action Item) (Pages 29-35)  

 

  

 

4.0 Inducement Resolution(s):     ECIDA  Private   

      `   Incentives Investment     Municipality

  

4.1 10 Dona Street/Uniland Development (Pages 36-76) $  3,090,403 $19,692,754 Lackawanna 

4.2 5100 North America Drive, LLC (Pages 77-110)  $11,830,173 $61,764,000 West Seneca

  

 

5.0 Management Team Report: 

 

5.1   

6.0 Adjournment - Next Meeting December 21, 2022 @ 12:00 p.m. 

























Tax Incentives Closings - 2022

Project Name  Project 

Amount at 

Closing 

FT Jobs 

at App

Projected 

Year 2 FT 

Jobs

PT 

Jobs at 

App

Projected 

Year 2 PT 

Jobs

Project City Induced Date Est. Project 

Completion 

Date

Unifrax Line 7  $     36,000,000 27 37 0 0 Tonawanda 3/27/2019 12/31/2021

Worksport  $     15,666,887 0 6 0 10 West Seneca 4/27/2022 12/31/2027

Calspan Corporation  $     15,092,000 143 163 3 3 Cheektowaga 6/1/2022 12/31/2022

Sucro Real Estate, LLC  $       7,625,000 5              50 0 0 Lackawanna 1/27/2021 4/30/2023

380 Vulcan/Carrier 

Terminal Services  $       7,145,000 5                7 2 2 Kenmore 7/27/2022 12/31/2024

Eastman Machine 

Company  $       1,749,062 126 129 0 0 Buffalo 2/24/2021 12/21/2023

 $     83,277,949 306            392 5 15

FT Projected New Jobs = 86

PT Projected New Jobs = 10

Projects Closed = 6



 
 

 

 

 

 

95 Perry Street, Suite 403 • Buffalo, New York 14203 • ph. 716.856.6525 • fx. 716.856.6754 • www.ecidany.com 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Background: 

Shoreline Apartment LLC is requesting that the ECIDA approve the transfer of the 

Managing Member Interest and Property Manager for the Shoreline Apartments located at 99 

Carolina Street in the City of Buffalo from Norstar Development to Beacon Communities LLC.  

The president of Norstar is retiring and is transitioning out of their managing member interests in 

10 of Norstar’s affordable housing complexes in New York State.   

 

Beacon Communities is an owner, developer, and manager of affordable and mixed 

income housing facilities in 105 communities, providing over 18,000 residences in 13 states (see 

attached information on Beacon Communities).  The proposed action will not result in any 

change in the financing of the project, but ECIDA approval is required to accept the transfer of 

the managing member interest. 

 

In 2009 the ECIDA in partnership with Empire State Development, which at the time was 

acting as a housing development subsidiary issued bonds which financed the demolition, 

reconstruction, and renovation of the original 142-unit facility into 12 buildings containing 88 

residential units at the Carolina Street location.  As a result of the financing and tax credit 

agreements the units are required to remain affordable for 30 years from the date of the financing 

and all of the units at Shoreline are rent restricted by NYS Housing and Community Renewal 

(HCR) to be affordable to households earning at or below 60% AMI.  Additionally, there are 

currently 47 Section 8 voucher holders living at Shoreline.  Shoreline is subject to audits by HCR 

and quality control inspections by the local Section 8 Administrators.    

 

 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

November 30, 2022 

 

 

 

To: Board of Directors 

Re: 

 

Shoreline Apartments 



 
 

 

 

 

 

95 Perry Street, Suite 403 • Buffalo, New York 14203 • ph. 716.856.6525 • fx. 716.856.6754 • www.ecidany.com 

 

Beacon Communities has hired the current local Norstar Buffalo development team to 

stay on and represent Beacon.  They have worked in the Buffalo office for a number of years and 

are familiar with the community and local leadership.  HCR local representatives have indicated 

that Beacon is a credible affordable housing provider and has no objection to the managing 

member and property manager transfer request which they will also need to formally approve.   

 

 

Requested Action: 

 Approval of the modification of the bond documents to transfer the Managing Partner 

Interest and Property Manager from Norstar Development to Beacon Communities LLC, as well 

as a determination that no further environmental review is required under SEQRA. 

 



 

 
000161.01518 Business 23144385v4 

APPROVING RESOLUTION 

SHORELINE APARTMENTS LLC PROJECT 

 

A regular meeting of Erie County Industrial Development Agency (the “Issuer”) was convened in 

public session at the Center of Excellence in Bioinformatics and Life Sciences in the Event 

Space/Conference Room (2nd floor) located at 701 Ellicott Street in the City of Buffalo, New York on 

November 30, 2022 at 12:00 o’clock p.m., local time. 

 

The meeting was called to order by the (Vice) Chairperson of the board of the Issuer and, upon roll 

being called, the following members of the Issuer were: 

 

PRESENT: 

 

Brenda McDuffie Chairperson 

Richard Lipsitz Vice Chairperson  

Denise Abbott Member  

Hon. Diane Benczkowski Member   

Rev. Mark Blue Member 

Hon. Byron Brown Member 

James Doherty Member 

Hon. Joseph Emminger Member 

Dottie Gallagher Member 

Michael Hughes Member 

Hon. Howard Johnson Member 

Tyra Johnson Member 

Hon. Brian Kulpa Member 

Denise McCowan Member 

Glenn Nellis Member 

Hon. Mark Poloncarz Member 

Hon. Darius Pridgen Member 

Kenneth Schoetz Member 

Paul Vukelic Member 

 

ABSENT: 

 

 

ISSUER STAFF PRESENT INCLUDED THE FOLLOWING: 

 

John Cappellino President and Chief Executive Officer 

Mollie Profic Vice President and Treasurer 

Jerry Manhard Assistant Treasurer/Assistant Secretary  

Atiqa Abidi Assistant Treasurer 

Elizabeth O’Keefe Vice President of Operations and Secretary  

Daryl Spulecki Assistant Treasurer 

Carrie Hocieniec  Assistant Secretary  

Robert G. Murray, Esq. Issuer Counsel  

Christopher C. Canada, Esq. Bond Counsel  

 

The following resolution was offered by ___________, seconded by ___________, to wit: 

 

Resolution No. __ 



 

- 2 - 
000161.01518 Business 23144385v4 

 

RESOLUTION (A) THE CONSENT OF THE ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL 

DEVELOPMENT AGENCY (THE “ISSUER”) TO THE REPLACEMENT OF THE 

MANAGING MEMBER OF SHORELINE APARTMENTS LLC RELATING TO THE 

ISSUER’S TAX-EXEMPT REVENUE BOND (SHORELINE APARTMENTS LLC 

PROJECT), SERIES 2009A AND THE ISSUER’S TAX-EXEMPT REVENUE BOND 

(SHORELINE APARTMENTS LLC PROJECT), SERIES 2009B ISSUED BY THE 

ISSUER ON JUNE 9, 2009; (B) THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF RELATED 

DOCUMENTS; AND (C) MAKING A FINDING IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE NEW 

YORK STATE ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY REVIEW ACT. 

 

 WHEREAS, the Erie County Industrial Development Agency (the “Issuer”) is authorized and 

empowered by Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the State of New York (the “State”), as 

amended (the “Enabling Act”), together with Section 891-a of the General Municipal Law, as amended 

(said Section and the Enabling Act, collectively referred to as, the “Act”), to promote, develop, encourage 

and assist in the acquiring, constructing, reconstructing, improving, maintaining, equipping and furnishing 

of industrial, manufacturing, warehousing, commercial, research and recreation facilities, including 

industrial pollution control facilities, railroad facilities and certain horse racing facilities, for the purpose of 

promoting, attracting, encouraging and developing recreation and economically sound commerce and 

industry to advance the job opportunities, health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the people of 

the State, to improve their recreation opportunities, prosperity and standard of living, and to prevent 

unemployment and economic deterioration; and 

 

 WHEREAS, to accomplish its stated purposes, the Issuer is authorized and empowered under the 

Act to issue its revenue bonds to finance the cost of the acquisition, construction, installation and equipping 

of one or more “projects” (as defined in the Act), to acquire, construct, equip and install said projects or to 

cause said projects to be acquired, constructed, equipped and installed and to convey said projects or to 

lease said projects with the obligation to purchase; and  

  

WHEREAS, on June 9, 2009, the Issuer issued its Tax-Exempt Revenue Bond (Shoreline Apartments 

LLC Project), Series 2009A in the original principal amount of $2,000,000 (the “Series 2009A Bond”) and 

its Tax-Exempt Revenue Bond (Shoreline Apartments LLC Project), Series 2009B in the original principal 

amount of $3,935,000 (the “Series 2009B Bond” and together with the Series 2009A Bond, the “Bonds”); 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the Bonds were issued for the purpose of financing a portion of the costs of a certain 

project (the “Project”) undertaken for the benefit of Shoreline Apartments LLC, a New York limited liability 

company (the “Company”) consisting of the following: (i) the acquisition of a leasehold interest in 

approximately five and six-tenth acres of improved real property (the “Land”) bound by Carolina Street, 

Seventh Street, Busti Avenue and Pine Harbor Walk in the City of Buffalo, Erie County, New York; (ii) the 

demolition of certain units in, and reconstruction and rehabilitation of, an existing apartment complex for use 

as an approximately 85 unit affordable housing facility (the “Facility”) and the reconstruction of parking and 

other site improvements, all located on the Land; (iii) the acquisition of and installation in the Facility and on 

the Land of various machinery, equipment and furnishings (the “Equipment”) (the Land, Facility and 

Equipment collectively referred to hereinafter as the “Project Facility”); and (iv) the financing of all or a 

portion of the costs of the foregoing by the issuance of the Bonds; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Bonds were issued pursuant to an amended bond resolution adopted by the members 

of the Issuer on December 8, 2008 (the “Bond Resolution”) and an agency lease agreement dated as of May 

31, 2009 (the “Agency Lease Agreement”) by and between the Issuer and the Company; and  

 



 

- 3 - 
000161.01518 Business 23144385v4 

WHEREAS, pursuant to a bond purchase agreement dated June 8, 2009 (the “Bond Purchase 

Agreement”) by and among the Issuer, the Company and New York State Urban Development Corporation 

d/b/a Empire State Development Corporation (the “Initial Bondholder”), the Bonds were initially purchased 

by the Initial Bondholder; and  

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Bond Resolution and prior to authorizing the issuance of the Bonds 

thereunder, the members of the Agency ratified the findings made in a resolution adopted by the members 

of the Agency on May 9, 2005 (the “SEQRA Resolution”); and  

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the SEQRA Resolution, in accordance with Article 8 of the Environmental 

Conservation Law, Chapter 43-B of the Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended (the “SEQR Act”) 

and the regulations (the “Regulations”) adopted pursuant thereto by the Department of Environmental 

Conservation of the State of New York (collectively with the SEQR Act, “SEQRA”), the Issuer classified 

the Project as an “Unlisted Action” (as such term is defined under SEQRA) and determined that the 

approval of the Project would not have a “significant effect on the environment” (as such term is defined 

under SEQRA); and  

 

WHEREAS, contemporaneously with the issuance of the Bonds, the Issuer, the Company and the 

Initial Bondholder entered into various documents related to the Bonds (hereinafter sometimes collectively 

referred to as the “Financing Documents”), including but not limited to the following: (A) the Bond Purchase 

Agreement; (B) the Agency Lease Agreement; (C) a company lease agreement dated as of May 31, 2009 (the 

“Company Lease Agreement”) by and among the Issuer, the Company and Buffalo Waterfront S-1 Homes, 

Inc., a New York business corporation (the “Fee Owner”); (D) a pledge and assignment dated as of May 31, 

2009 (the “Pledge and Assignment”) from the Issuer to the Initial Bondholder; and (E) a building loan 

mortgage, assignment of leases and rents and security agreement dated as of May 31, 2009 (the “Mortgage”) 

from the Company, the Fee Owner and the Issuer; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Issuer received a letter dated November 16, 2022 from the Company (the “Request 

Letter”) notifying the Issuer that Beacon Shorelines LLC (the “New Managing Member”) proposes to 

purchase the interest of Norstar Shoreline II Inc. (the “Current Managing Member”) in the Company and 

replace the Current Managing Member with the New Managing Member in connection with the purchase by 

affiliates of Beacon Communities Corp., a Massachusetts corporation, of certain properties from Norstar 

Development USA, L.P., a Texas limited partnership, as original developer of the Project Facility (such 

replacement of the Current Managing Member with the New Managing Member being referred to hereinafter 

as the “Proposed Action”) and requesting the consent of the Issuer to the Proposed Action, with a copy of 

such Request Letter being attached hereto as Exhibit A; and 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 6.2(i) of the Agency Lease Agreement, the Proposed Action 

requires, among other things, the prior written consent of the Issuer; and  

 

WHEREAS, in connection with the Request Letter, the Issuer now desires to authorize the following 

actions (collectively, the “Action”): (1) to consent to the Proposed Action, (2) to make any necessary 

amendments to the Financing Documents and the Bonds (if any) in order to implement the Proposed Action 

(collectively, the “Modification Documents”) and (3) if (and only if) the Action results, in the opinion of 

Hodgson Russ LLP, bond counsel to the Issuer, in a deemed reissuance of the Bonds (referred to hereinafter 

as the “Reissued Bonds”) pursuant to the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the 

“Code”), the execution by the Issuer of (a) an arbitrage certificate dated the date of delivery of the Reissued 

Bonds (the “Reissued Arbitrage Certificate”) relating to certain requirements set forth in Section 148 of the 

Code relating to the Reissued Bond and (b) a completed Internal Revenue Service Form 8038 (Information 

Return for Tax-Exempt Private Activity Bonds) relating to the Reissued Bonds (the “Reissued Information 

Return”) pursuant to Section 149(e) of the Code, which Reissued Information Return shall be filed with the 



 

- 4 - 
000161.01518 Business 23144385v4 

Internal Revenue Service (the Bonds, the Reissued Bonds, the Modification Documents, the Reissued 

Arbitrage Certificate and the Reissued Information Return are hereinafter referred to as the “Bond 

Documents”); and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to SEQRA, the Issuer must determine the potential environmental 

significance of the Action; and  

WHEREAS, the Issuer now wishes to authorize the Action; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE ERIE COUNTY 

INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. Pursuant to SEQRA, the Issuer hereby finds and determines that: 

 

(A) Pursuant to Section 617.5(c)(29) of the Regulations, the Action (including but not 

limited to the execution and delivery of the Bond Documents) is a “Type II action” (as said quoted 

term is defined in the Regulations). 

 

(B) Accordingly, the Issuer hereby determines that no environmental impact statement 

or any other determination or procedure is required under SEQRA with respect to the Action. 

 

Section 2. The Issuer hereby finds and determines that: 

 

(A) By virtue of the Act, the Issuer has been vested with all powers necessary and 

convenient to carry out and effectuate the purposes and provisions of the Act and to exercise all 

powers granted to it under the Act. 

 

(B) It is desirable and in the public interest for the Issuer to enter into the Bond 

Documents. 

 

Section 3. In consequence of the foregoing, the Issuer hereby determines to: (A) authorize the 

Action; (B) subject to approval of the form and substance of the Bond Documents by Bond Counsel and 

counsel to the Issuer, approve the form and substance of the Bond Documents; and (C) subject to 

(i) compliance with the terms and conditions contained in the existing documents relating to the Bonds and 

(ii) compliance with state and federal law applicable to the Action, authorize the execution and delivery of 

the Bond Documents. 

 

Section 4. Subject to the satisfaction of the conditions described in Section 3 hereof, the 

Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, President and Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Vice 

President of Operations and Assistant Treasurer of the Issuer (each, an “Authorized Officer”) is hereby 

authorized, on behalf of the Issuer, to execute and deliver the Bond Documents and the other documents 

related thereto and, where appropriate, the Assistant Secretary of the Issuer is hereby authorized to affix the 

seal of the Issuer thereto and to attest the same, all in substantially the forms thereof approved by Bond 

Counsel and counsel to the Issuer, with such changes, variations, omissions and insertions as the Authorized 

Officer of the Issuer shall approve, the execution thereof by the Authorized Officer of the Issuer to constitute 

conclusive evidence of such approval. 

 

Section 5. The officers, employees and agents of the Issuer are hereby authorized and directed 

for and in the name and on behalf of the Issuer to do all acts and things required or provided for by the 

provisions of the Bond Documents, and to execute and deliver all such additional certificates, instruments 

and documents, to pay all such fees, charges and expenses and to do all such further acts and things as may 



 

- 5 - 
000161.01518 Business 23144385v4 

be necessary or, in the opinion of the officer, employee or agent acting, desirable and proper to effect the 

purposes of this resolution and to cause compliance by the Issuer with all of the terms, covenants and 

provisions of the Bond Documents binding upon the Issuer. 

 

Section 6. This resolution shall take effect immediately. 

 

The question of the adoption of the foregoing resolution was duly put to a vote on roll call, which 

resulted as follows: 

 

Brenda McDuffie VOTING _______ 

Richard Lipsitz VOTING _______ 

Denise Abbott VOTING _______ 

Hon. Diane Benczkowski VOTING _______ 

Rev. Mark Blue VOTING _______ 

Hon. Byron Brown VOTING _______ 

James Doherty VOTING _______ 

Hon. Joseph Emminger VOTING _______ 

Dottie Gallagher VOTING _______ 

Michael Hughes VOTING _______ 

Hon. Howard Johnson VOTING _______ 

Tyra Johnson VOTING _______ 

Hon. Brian Kulpa VOTING _______ 

Denise McCowan VOTING _______ 

Glenn Nellis VOTING _______ 

Hon. Mark Poloncarz VOTING _______ 

Hon. Darius Pridgen VOTING _______ 

Kenneth Schoetz VOTING _______ 

Paul Vukelic VOTING _______ 

 

The foregoing resolution was thereupon declared duly adopted. 

 

[Remainder of page left blank intentionally] 

  



 

- 6 - 
000161.01518 Business 23144385v4 

 

STATE OF NEW YORK  ) 

     ) SS: 

COUNTY OF ERIE   ) 

 

I, the undersigned (Assistant) Secretary of Erie County Industrial Development Agency (the 

“Issuer”), DO HEREBY CERTIFY that I have compared the foregoing annexed extract of the minutes of 

the meeting of the members of the Issuer, including the resolution contained therein, held on November 30, 

2022 with the original thereof on file in my office, and that the same is a true and correct copy of said 

original and of such resolution contained therein and of the whole of said original so far as the same relates 

to the subject matters therein referred to. 

 

I FURTHER CERTIFY that (A) all members of the Issuer had due notice of said meeting; (B) said 

meeting was in all respects duly held; (C) pursuant to Article 7 of the Public Officers Law (the “Open 

Meetings Law”), said meeting was open to the general public, and due notice of the time and place of said 

meeting was duly given in accordance with such Open Meetings Law; and (D) there was a quorum of the 

members of the Issuer present throughout said meeting. 

 

I FURTHER CERTIFY that, as of the date hereof, the attached resolution is in full force and effect 

and has not been amended, repealed or rescinded. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of the Issuer this __ 

day of November, 2022. 

 

 

 

______________________________ 

 (Assistant) Secretary 

 

 

(SEAL) 

 

 

 



 

 

A-1 
000161.01518 Business 23144385v4 

EXHIBIT A 

 

REQUEST LETTER 

 

- SEE ATTACHED - 

  



 

A-2 
000161.01518 Business 23144385v4 



 

A-3 
000161.01518 Business 23144385v4 



 

A-4 
000161.01518 Business 23144385v4 



 

A-5 
000161.01518 Business 23144385v4 



 

A-6 
000161.01518 Business 23144385v4 



 

A-7 
000161.01518 Business 23144385v4 

 



 

 

ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

RESOLUTION 

 

A regular meeting of the Erie County Industrial Development Agency was convened on 

Wednesday, November 30, 2022 at 12:00 p.m. 

The following resolution was duly offered and seconded, to wit: 

RESOLUTION OF THE ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 

AGENCY (“AGENCY”) APPROVING THE USE OF VIDEO CONFERENCING 

UNDER EXTRAORDINARY CIRCUMSTANCES PURSUANT TO SECTION 

103-A OF THE NEW YORK PUBLIC OFFICERS LAW 

 

WHEREAS, by Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the State of New 

York, as amended, and Chapter 293 of the Laws of 1970 of the State of New York, as amended 

(collectively, the “Act”), the Erie County Industrial Development Agency (the “Agency”) was 

created as a public benefit corporation of the State with the authority and power to own, lease and 

sell property for the purpose of, among other things, acquiring, constructing and equipping civic, 

industrial, manufacturing, commercial and other facilities as authorized by the Act to prevent 

unemployment and economic deterioration; and 

WHEREAS, Section 103-a of the New York Public Officers Law (“POL”), as enacted by 

Part WW of Chapter 56 of the Laws of 2022, permits public bodies such as the Agency to authorize 

their members to attend meetings by videoconference from locations that are not open to the public 

(“private locations”), when necessitated by “extraordinary circumstances,” provided that (i) the 

number of members of the public body who attend the meeting at location(s) where the public can 

attend is at least equal to the number required to satisfy the public body’s quorum requirement, (ii) 

the public body has established written procedures governing member and public attendance 

consistent with Section 103-a of the POL, (iii) such written procedures are conspicuously posted 

on the public website of the public body, and (iv) the other criteria specified in Section 103-a of 

the POL are satisfied; and  

WHEREAS, Agency staff, in consultation with the Agency’s general counsel, have 

prepared a draft policy in compliance Section 103-a of the POL entitled “Videoconferencing 

Participation Pursuant to Public Officers Law Section 103-a” (the “Videoconferencing Policy”) 

attached hereto as Exhibit A; and 

WHEREAS, Section 103-a(2)(a) of the POL requires that the Agency must adopt a 

resolution after a public hearing in order to authorize videoconferencing from a private location 

and as described within the Videoconferencing Policy; and 

WHEREAS, the hearing so required was conducted on Monday, November 21, 2022 and 

the report thereon has been received and considered by the Agency; and  

WHEREAS, the Agency deems it appropriate that the Agency and any and all committees 

or subcommittees of the Agency now existing or hereafter established be authorized to use 



 

 

videoconferencing to conduct meetings in the manner contemplated by Section 103-a of the POL; 

and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL 

DEVELOPMENT AGENCY, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. The Agency hereby approves and adopts the Videoconferencing Policy and 

authorizes the Agency and any and all committees or subcommittees of the Agency now existing 

or hereafter established to use videoconferencing to conduct meetings in the manner authorized by 

Section 103-a of the POL, including meetings where a member who is unable to be physically 

present at any such meeting location due to extraordinary circumstances is permitted to attend and 

participate in the meeting by videoconferencing from a remote location that is not open to the 

public.  

Section 2. The Agency directs that the Videoconferencing Policy be conspicuously 

posted on the public website of the Agency in compliance with Section 103-a of the POL.  

Section 3. Any and all actions heretofore taken or authorized by the Agency and/or its 

members, officers, employees and agents with respect to this Resolution are hereby ratified, 

approved and confirmed in all aspects. 

Section 4.   This Resolution shall take effect immediately.  

 

ADOPTED: November 30, 2022   

 

  



 

 

EXHIBIT A 

Video Conferencing Policy 

 

(See Attached) 

 

  



 

 

ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY (“ECIDA”), 

BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT 

CORPORATION (“RDC”), 

AND 

BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL LAND DEVELOPMENT 

CORPORATION (“ILDC”) 

PROCEDURES FOR VIDEOCONFERENCING PARTICIPATION 

PURSUANT TO PUBLIC OFFICERS LAW SECTION 103-A 

This Videoconferencing Participation Policy (“Policy”) shall apply to the Erie County Industrial 

Development Agency (“ECIDA”) and its affiliated corporations: Buffalo and Erie County 

Regional Development Corporation (“RDC”), Buffalo and Erie County Industrial Land 

Development Corporation (“ILDC”), and any other affiliated entities that may be established by 

the ECIDA (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Agency”) upon approval by the respective 

Board of Directors or Members of the Agency. 

In compliance with New York Public Officer’s Law (“POL”) § 103-a(2)(a), the Agency, following 

a public hearing, authorized the use of videoconferencing as described in POL Section 103-a by 

resolution(s) dated November 30, 2022.  

The following procedures are hereby established to satisfy the requirement of POL § 103-a(2)(b) 

that “public bodies” must establish written procedures governing member and public attendance 

to permit its members to participate in Board and Committee meetings by videoconferencing from 

private locations, under Extraordinary Circumstances.  

1. Agency Member Attendance:  

A. All members of the Agency (“Members”) shall be physically present at the 

location(s) of the public meeting unless a Member cannot be physically present at the public 

meeting for one (1) or more of the circumstances enumerated in subsection B herein.  

B. Members may be excused from physically attending any public meeting of the 

Agency, and may instead attend via videoconferencing from a private location, if any of the 

following circumstances (thereinafter “Extraordinary Circumstances”):  

(i) Disability of a Member.  

(ii) Illness of a Member.  

(iii) The Member has caregiving responsibilities for:  

(a)  one (1) or more dependents, or 

(b) family member(s) with an illness or disability.  

 



 

 

 C. Notification of Agency.  

(i) In the event a Member is unable to be physically present at the designated 

public meeting location(s) and wishes to participate by videoconferencing 

from a private location due to an Extraordinary Circumstance, the Member 

must notify the Agency by submitting the form attached hereto as 

Exhibit A no later than ten (10) business days prior to the scheduled 

meeting to the President/CEO of the Agency to ensure proper notice of the 

meeting and related videoconference is given to the public.  

(ii) In the event an Extraordinary Circumstance arises within ten (10) business 

days of the scheduled meeting, the Member shall notify the President/CEO 

of the Agency immediately by submitting the form attached hereto as 

Exhibit A to provide the Agency with an opportunity to amend the notice 

of meeting.  

(iii) In the event an Extraordinary Circumstance arises within ten (10) business 

days of the scheduled meeting, and the Agency determines it would be 

impractical to amend the notice of meeting, the Agency may reschedule the 

meeting to a later date.  

2. Public Attendance: 

A. Members of the public shall be allowed to attend any public meeting conducted via 

videoconferencing at the physical location of the meeting, or via videoconferencing if a Member 

of the Agency attends via videoconferencing.  

3. Rules and Procedures for Public Meetings Conducted Via Video Conference:   

A. A quorum of Members participating in the meeting must be physically present at 

the meeting location(s) open to the public for the meeting to be properly convened. Members 

participating in the meeting via videoconferencing shall not count towards the Agency quorum 

requirements for the meeting but may participate and vote if a physical quorum of the Members 

exists.   

B. Except in the case of executive sessions conducted pursuant to POL § 105, 

Members must be able to be seen, heard and identified by other Members and the public during 

any matter formally discussed or voted on, including, but not limited to, motions, proposals, and 

resolutions. This shall include the use of first and last name placards placed physically in front of 

the Members or, for Members participating by videoconferencing from a private location, such 

Members shall ensure their names appear on their videoconferencing screen or video feed.  

C. If public comment or participation in the meeting is authorized or required, the 

video feed, and public participation therein, must be in real time, and the Agency shall ensure the 

meeting is conducted in a manner ensuring virtual public participation or testimony equal to in-

person participation or testimony.   



 

 

D. The meeting minutes for a meeting where a Member attends via videoconferencing 

shall include which Members participated remotely, and the meeting minutes shall be made 

available to the public pursuant to POL § 106.  

E. The public notice for any meeting held via video conference shall include the 

following information:   

(i) Notification that videoconferencing will be used to conduct the meeting; 

(ii) Identification of where the public can view and/or participate in the 

meeting, including:  

(a) the physical location(s) of the meeting; and  

(b) any web addresses for video links; and 

(iii) Identification of the location(s) where any required documents and/or 

records will be posted or available for public viewing.  

F. Each open portion of meetings held via videoconference must be recorded.  The 

recording:  

(i) Must be posted or linked on the website of the Agency within five (5) 

business days of the meeting;  

(ii) Must remain available for a minimum of five (5) years after it is posted; and 

(iii) Shall be transcribed upon written request subject to any reasonable fees for 

the production thereof.  

G. Meetings held via video conference must utilize technology to permit access by 

individuals with disabilities consistent with the 1990 Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), as 

amended, and the corresponding guidelines thereto. For purposes of this section, the term 

“disability” shall have the meaning defined in New York Executive Law § 292.  

4. Miscellaneous. 

 A. The in-person participation requirements of POL § 103-a(2)(c) shall not apply 

during a state disaster emergency declared by the governor pursuant to Executive Law § 28 or a 

local state emergency proclaimed by the chief executive of a county, city village or town pursuant 

to Executive Law § 24 if the Agency determines that the circumstances necessitating the 

emergency declaration would affect or impair the ability of the Agency to hold an in-person 

meeting.  

 B. These procedures shall be conspicuously posted on the Agency’s website.  

 



 

 

EXHIBIT A 

REQUEST FOR VIDEOCONFERENCING PARTICIPATION 

PURSUANT TO PUBLIC OFFICERS LAW SECTION 103-A 

Meeting Date:  

 

Name of Member:   

 

Agency 

Membership: 

 

Reason for Physical 

Absence (Check All 

That Apply):  

 Disability of the Member.  

 Illness of the Member.  

 The Member has caregiving responsibilities for:  

  one (1) or more dependents, or 

  family members with an illness or disability.  

Description of 

Absence: 

(Summarize) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

For Agency Use Only:  

 

Date Request Received:  

 

 

Date Request Approved: 

 

 

Request Approved By: (Print Name) 

 

 

Signature:  

 

 

 

 



Renaissance 6, LLC/Uniland Development  

$ 19,692,754 

PRIVATE INVESTMENT INDUCEMENT RESOLUTION 
ELIGIBILITY 

 

 

 

Agency Request 

 

A sales tax, mortgage recording tax and real property tax abatement in connection with the 

construction of a 151,200sq ft speculative high bay industrial building. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Company Description 

 

Renaissance 6, LLC is a real estate holding company and affiliate of Uniland Development. 

Uniland engages in real estate development, construction, and management of various 

commercial and industrial properties in WNY.  

 

Project Description 

  

 

The project consists of the construction and leasing of a 151,200 sq ft speculative high bay 

industrial building for prospective businesses with advanced manufacturing or regional 

distribution warehousing operations and related site requirements. The project will mirror 

Uniland’s warehouse project located at 8 Dona St, an adjacent speculative industrial building 

currently under construction at the Renaissance Commerce Park. Uniland along with its 

economic development partners will market the building to both local and out of town 

businesses that are seeking modern space to meet their industrial needs.  

Project Title: 10 Dona Street 

 

 Project Address 10 Dona St, Lackawanna, NY 14218 

 (Lackawanna Central School District) 

Land Acquisition $     205,250 

New Building Construction $ 15,906,429 

Soft Costs/Other $   3,581,075 
 

 

Total Project Cost $ 19,692,754 

   

85% $ 16,738,840 

• NAICS Section –  53 

COMPANY INCENTIVES  

 

• Approximately $ 835,087   in 

sales tax savings 

 

• Approximately $2,185,081 in real 

property tax savings 

 

• Up to 3/4 of 1% of the final 

mortgage amount est at $ 70,235 

JOBS & ANNUAL PAYROLL 

 

• Current Jobs: 0 

 

• Projected new jobs: 41 FT 

 

• Est. salary/yr. of jobs created: $ 

41,700 

 

• Total jobs after project completion: 

41 FTE 

 

• Construction Jobs: 84 

 

 

 

PROJECTED COMMUNITY 

BENEFITS* 

 

• Term: 10 year 

 

• NET Community Benefits: 

$ 42,661,170 

 

• Spillover Jobs: 95  

 

Total Payroll: $ 39.7 million  

INCENTIVE COST / 

COMMUNITY BENEFIT RATIO 

(discounted at 2%)* 

 

Incentives: $ 2,879,986 

 

Community Benefit: $ 39,319,676 

 

Cost: Benefit Ratio   

• 1:14 

 

* Cost Benefit Analysis Tool powered by MRB Group 



Economic Impact: Inform Analytics Cost-Benefit Analysis 

The Erie County Industrial Development Agency uses the Cost Benefit Analysis Tool powered by MRB Group to assess the 

economic impact of a project applying for incentives. A Cost-Benefit Analysis is required by Section 859-a (5)(b) of General 

Municipal Law. For the complete Cost Benefit Analysis – please see the attached MRB Cost Benefit Calculator. 

 

Cost: Incentives 

C
O

ST
S 

Tax Exemption Amount 

Property  2,185,081 

Sales  835,.87 

Mortgage Recording  70,235 

Total 3,090.403 

Discounted at 2% 2,879,986 

 

Benefit: Projected Community Benefit* 

B
EN

EF
IT

S 

Region Recipient Revenue Type $ Amount ** 

Erie 
County 

Individuals Payroll Construction  12,384,254 

Payroll Permanent  27,312,994 

Public Property Taxes 546,270 

Sales Taxes 329,983 

Other Muni (NFTA) 23,412 

New York 
State 

Public Income Taxes 1,786,376 

Sales Taxes 277,881 

  Total Benefits to EC + NYS*** 42,661,170 

  Discounted at 2% 39,319,676 

* Cost Benefit Analysis Tool powered by MRB Group  **includes direct & indirect $ over project period    ***may not sum to total due to rounding 

 

Conclusion: The Cost Benefit for this project is: 1:14. For every $1 in costs (incentives), this project provides $ 14 in 

benefits (payroll & tax revenue). Note: For Erie County, every $1 in costs (incentives) provides $ 15 in benefits to 

the community. 

New Tax Revenue Estimated 

Current Yearly  
Taxes 

Estimated New 

Assessed Value 

Additional County 
Revenue over 
abatement period 

Additional Local 
Revenue Over 
abatement 
period 

Additional School 

Revenue Over 

abatement period 

New Yearly Taxes 

Upon Expiration of 

Abatement Period 

$ 3,414  $8,000,000 $ 74,148 $ 268,000 $ 204,122 $ 276,549 

Combined Tax 
Rate:  
$ 34.14 

         

 

  

Discounted Cost $   2,879,986 

Discounted Benefit $  39,319,676 

Ratio 1:14 

  



Draft Recapture Material Terms 

 

Condition 

  
Term Recapture Provision 

Total Investment At project completion Investment amount equal to or greater than 85% of 

project amount.   

Total project amount = $ 19,692,754 

85% = $ 16,738,840 

Employment Coincides with 10-year PILOT Maintain Base = 0 

Create 85% of Projected 

Projected = 41 FTE 

85% = 34 FTE 

Recapture Employment = 34 FTE 

Local Labor Construction period Adherence to policy including  

quarterly reporting 

Pay Equity Coincides with 10-year PILOT Adherence to Policy 

Unpaid Tax Coincides with 10-year PILOT Adherence to Policy 

Recapture Period Coincides with 10-year PILOT Recapture of Mortgage recording tax, state and local 

sales taxes  

Recapture applies to: 

State and Local Sales Taxes 

Real Property Tax 

Mortgage Recording Tax  

Recapture  

Pursuant to New York State General Municipal Law, the agency shall modify, recover, recapture or terminate any financial assistance 

taken by the company that is in violation of the GML. 

At completion of the project company must certify i) total investment amount is equal to or greater than 85% of the anticipated project 

amount; ii) company has created 41jobs, iii) confirm adherence to local labor policy during construction and iv) its adherence to 

unpaid tax/pay equity policies for recapture term.  

 

Project ECIDA History 

• 11/2/22: Public hearing held.  

 

• 11/30/22: Inducement Resolution presented to Board of Directors adopting a Negative Declaration in accordance with 

SEQRA 

 

• 11/30/22: Lease/Leaseback Inducement Resolution presented to the Board of Directors 

 

 

Company ECIDA History 

 

ECIDA has a long history with Uniland dating back to 1987. The following are recent & active projects: 

 

• 04/28/21: Tax incentives for $ 14.6 M new construction warehouse @ 8 Dona St, City of Lackawanna 

• 07/24/19: Tax incentives for $7.9 M Adaptive Reuse - Buffalo High Technology Center HANSA, City of Buffalo  

• 08/18/15: Tax incentives for $ 21.1M new construction back office project, Town of Cheektowaga. 























 

 

 

ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

INDUCEMENT RESOLUTION 

 

RENAISSANCE 6, LLC, AND/OR INDIVIDUAL(S) OR AFFILIATE(S), 

SUBSIDIARY(IES), OR ENTITY(IES) FORMED OR TO BE FORMED ON ITS 

BEHALF 

 

A regular meeting of the Erie County Industrial Development Agency was convened on 

Wednesday, November 30, 2022 at 12:00 p.m. 

 

The following resolution was duly offered and seconded, to wit: 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 

AGENCY: (i) ACCEPTING THE APPLICATION OF RENAISSANCE 6, LLC, 

AND/OR INDIVIDUAL(S) OR AFFILIATE(S), SUBSIDIARY(IES), OR 

ENTITY(IES) FORMED OR TO BE FORMED ON ITS BEHALF 

(INDIVIDUALLY, AND/OR COLLECTIVELY, THE “COMPANY”) IN 

CONNECTION WITH A CERTAIN PROJECT DESCRIBED BELOW; (ii) 

RATIFYING THE SCHEDULING, NOTICING, AND CONDUCTING OF A 

PUBLIC HEARING IN CONNECTION WITH THE PROJECT; (iii) MAKING 

A DETERMINATION PURSUANT TO THE STATE ENVIRONMENTAL 

QUALITY REVIEW ACT; (iv) APPOINTING THE COMPANY, OR ITS 

DESIGNEE, AS ITS AGENT TO UNDERTAKE THE PROJECT; (v) 

AUTHORIZING THE UNDERTAKING OF THE PROJECT TO PROVIDE 

FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE TO THE COMPANY IN THE FORM OF (A) A 

SALES TAX EXEMPTION BENEFIT FOR PURCHASES AND RENTALS 

RELATED TO THE ACQUISITION, CONSTRUCTION AND EQUIPPING OF 

THE PROJECT, (B) A MORTGAGE RECORDING TAX EXEMPTION 

BENEFIT FOR FINANCING RELATED TO THE PROJECT, AND (C) A 

PARTIAL ABATEMENT FROM REAL PROPERTY TAXES BENEFIT 

THROUGH THE PILOT AGREEMENT; AND (vi) AUTHORIZING THE 

NEGOTIATION AND EXECUTION OF A LEASE AGREEMENT, 

LEASEBACK AGREEMENT, A PAYMENT-IN-LIEU-OF-TAX 

AGREEMENT, AN AGENT AND FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE PROJECT 

AGREEMENT, AND RELATED DOCUMENTS 

 

WHEREAS, by Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the State of 

New York, as amended, and Chapter 293 of the Laws of 1970 of the State of New York, as 

amended (collectively, the “Act”), the ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 

AGENCY (the “Agency”) was created with the authority and power to own, lease and sell 

property for the purpose of, among other things, acquiring, constructing and equipping civic, 

industrial, manufacturing, commercial and other facilities as authorized by the Act; and 

 

WHEREAS, RENAISSANCE 6, LLC or on behalf of an affiliated entity formed or to be 

formed (the “Company”) has submitted an application to the Agency (the “Application”) 



 

2 

requesting the Agency’s assistance with a certain project (the “Project”) consisting of:  (i) the 

acquisition by the Agency of a leasehold interest in certain property located on 10 Dona Street, 

City of Lackawanna, Erie County, New York (the “Land”), (ii) the construction on the Land of 

an approximately 151,200+/- square-foot speculative high-bay industrial building for leasing to 

prospective businesses with advanced manufacturing or regional distribution warehousing 

operations and related site requirements (the “Improvements”), and (iii) the acquisition by the 

Company in and around the Improvements of certain items of machinery, equipment and other 

tangible personal property (the “Equipment”; and, together with the Land and the Improvements, 

the “Facility”); and  

WHEREAS, it is contemplated that the Agency will (i) designate the Company as its 

agent for the purpose of undertaking the Project pursuant to an Agent and Financial Assistance 

Project Agreement (the “Agent Agreement”), (ii) negotiate and enter into a lease agreement (the 

“Lease Agreement”) and related leaseback agreement (the “Leaseback Agreement”) with the 

Company, pursuant to which the Agency will retain a leasehold interest in the Land, the Existing 

Improvements, the Improvements, the Equipment and personal property constituting the Facility; 

and (iii) provide Financial Assistance to the Company in the form of (a) an exemption benefit 

from all New York State and local sales and use taxes for purchases and rentals related to the 

Project with respect to the qualifying personal property included in or incorporated into the 

Facility or used in the acquisition, construction, reconstruction and/or renovation, rehabilitation 

or equipping of the Facility, (b) a mortgage recording tax exemption benefit for the financing 

related to the Project, and (c) a partial abatement from real property taxes benefit through a ten 

(10) year “payment in lieu of tax agreement” (the “PILOT Agreement”) with the Company for 

the benefit of each municipality and school district having taxing jurisdiction over the Project, 

(collectively, the sales and use tax exemption benefit, the mortgage recording tax exemption 

benefit, and the partial abatement from real property taxes benefit, are hereinafter collectively 

referred to as the “Financial Assistance”); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to General Municipal Law Section 859-a, on November 2, 2022, 

at 9:30 a.m., at the City of Lackawanna Council Chambers, located at City Hall, 714 Ridge 

Road, Lackawanna, NY 14218, the Agency held a public hearing with respect to the Project and 

the proposed Financial Assistance (as hereinafter defined) being contemplated by the Agency 

(the “Public Hearing”) whereat interested parties were provided a reasonable opportunity, both 

orally and in writing, to present their views; and 

WHEREAS, the Project is located within an approximately 150 acre business park located 

within the former Bethlehem Steel Site in Lackawanna, New York (the “BSS Site”), said BSS Site, or 

portions thereof, being owned or formerly owned by, the Buffalo and Erie County Industrial Land 

Development Corporation (the “ILDC”), an affiliate of the Agency; and 

 

WHEREAS, the ILDC has completed the Infrastructure and Maser Plan for the BSS Site 

(the “Master Plan”) and related thereto and as required under Article 8 of the Environmental 

Conservation Law and the regulations promulgated therein at 6 N.Y.C.R.R. Part 617 

(collectively referred to as “SEQR”), the ILDC accepted a Draft Generic Environmental Impact 

Statement (“DGEIS”) prepared for the Master Plan on May 27, 2020, accepted a Final Generic 

Environmental Impact Statement (“FGEIS”) prepared for the Master Plan on September 23, 



 

3 

2020 and prepared a Findings Statement for completion of the SEQR review for the Master Plan 

as required by SEQR (the “Findings Statement”) on October 28, 2020; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 617.10(d)(1) of the SEQR regulations states that when a FGEIS has 

been filed, no further SEQR compliance is required if the subsequent proposed action will be 

carried out in conformance with the conditions and thresholds established for such actions in the 

FGEIS or the Findings Statement, such that additional SEQR compliance is only required if the 

subsequent proposed action was not addressed or was not adequately addressed in the FGEIS or 

the Findings Statement, or if the subsequent action has one or more significant adverse 

environmental impacts that were not analyzed in the generic process; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to and in accordance with applicable provisions of SEQR, the 

Company has submitted to the Agency a Full Environmental Assessment Form (the “EAF”) with 

respect to the Project; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Lackawanna Planning and Development Board (the “Planning 

Board”) in accordance with SEQR, undertook coordinated review with respect to the Project, 

established itself as Lead Agency as defined in SEQR, determined that the Project was an 

Unlisted Action, determined that the Project will result in no significant adverse impacts on the 

environment, and, therefore, an environmental impat statement need not be prepared, and issued 

a negative declaration (“Negative Declaration”) under SEQR on November 16, 2022 with 

respect to the Project; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Article 18-A of the Act, the Agency desires to adopt a 

resolution describing the Project and the Financial Assistance that the Agency is contemplating 

with respect to the Project. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE ERIE 

COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. The Company has presented an application in a form acceptable to the 

Agency.  Based upon the representations made by the Company to the Agency in the Company’s 

application and any other correspondence submitted by the Company to the Agency, public 

hearing comments, if any, Agency Policy Committee review of and recommendations related to 

the Project and its November 30, 2022 resolution to approve the Project subject to the terms and 

conditions as described herein, the Policy Committee and Agency board member review of the 

Project’s cost benefit ratio, the costs of incentives so applied for, the anticipated new tax 

revenues to be generated by the Project, as well as the Project’s contemplated community 

benefits, and Agency board member review, discussion, and consideration of same, the Agency 

hereby finds and determines that: 

(A) By virtue of the Act, the Agency has been vested with all powers necessary and 

convenient to carry out and effectuate the purposes and provisions of the Act and to exercise all 

powers granted to it under the Act; and 

(B) It is desirable and in the public interest for the Agency to appoint the Company as 

its agent for purposes of acquiring, constructing and/or renovating and equipping the Project; and 



 

4 

(C) The Agency has the authority to take the actions contemplated herein under the 

Act; and 

(D) The action to be taken by the Agency will induce the Company to develop the 

Project, thereby increasing and/or retaining employment opportunities in Erie County, New York 

and otherwise furthering the purposes of the Agency as set forth in the Act; and 

(E) The Project will not result in the removal of a civic, commercial, industrial, or 

manufacturing plant of the Company or any other proposed occupant of the Project from one 

area of the State of New York (the “State”) to another area of the State or result in the 

abandonment of one or more plants or facilities of the Company or any other proposed occupant 

of the Project located within the State; and the Agency hereby finds that, based on the 

Company’s application, to the extent occupants are relocating from one plant or facility to 

another, the Project is reasonably necessary to discourage the Project occupants from removing 

such other plant or facility to a location outside the State and/or is reasonably necessary to 

preserve the competitive position of the Project occupants in their respective industries, and, to 

the extent occupants are relocating from one plant or facility to another in another area of the 

State, the Agency has complied with the Intermunicipal Movement procedures as required in the 

Countywide Industrial Development Agency Uniform Tax Exemption Policy; and 

(F) The Agency has assessed all material information included in connection with the 

Application necessary to afford a reasonable basis for the decision by the Agency to provide 

Financial Assistance for the Project as described herein; and 

(G) The Agency has prepared a written cost-benefit analysis satisfactorily identifying 

the extent to which the Project will create or retain permanent, private sector jobs, the estimated 

value of any tax exemption to be provided, the amount of private sector investment generated or 

likely to be generated by the Project, the likelihood of accomplishing the Project in a timely 

fashion, and the extent to which the Project will provide additional sources of revenue for 

municipalities and school districts, and any other public benefits that might occur as a result of 

the Project; and 

(H) The Company has provided a written statement confirming that the Project as of 

the date of the Application is in substantial compliance with all provisions the Act.; and 

(I) Based upon a thorough and complete review of the Application and its 

accompanying materials and information, the EAF submitted by the Company, the DGEIS, 

FGEIS, the Findings Statement, and the proceedings conducted by the Planning Board pursuant 

to SEQR, the Agency hereby: 

 

(i) consents to and affirms the status of the Planning Board as “Lead Agency” 

within the meaning of and for all purposes of complying with SEQR and determines that 

the proceedings undertaken by the Planning Board under SEQR with respect to the 

undertaking of the Project by the Company (as agent of the Agency) satisfy the 

requirements of SEQR;  

 



 

5 

(ii) affirms that the Project involves an “Unlisted Action” as that term is 

defined under SEQR; 

 

(iii) reviews, considers, ratifies, and adopts such proceedings by the Planning 

Board, including the “Negative Declaration”;  

 

(iv) determines that the Project will result in no major impacts and, therefore, 

is one which will not cause significant damage to the environment, that the Project will not have 

a “significant effect on the environment” as such quoted terms are defined in SEQR, and that no 

“environmental impact statement” as such quoted term is defined in SEQR need be prepared for 

this action; and  

 

(v) determines that all of the provisions of SEQR that are required to be 

complied with as a condition precedent to the approval of the Financial Assistance contemplated 

by the Agency with respect to the Project, and the participation by the Agency in undertaking the 

Project, have been satisfied. This determination constitutes a “negative declaration” (as such 

quoted terms are defined under SEQR) for purposes of SEQR. 

 

(J) The Project qualifies for Agency Financial Assistance as it meets the Agency’s 

evaluative criteria established by the Agency as required under General Municipal Law 

Section 859-a(5), as  evidenced by the following: 

(i) Wage Rate (above median wage for area):  Average annual wage for 

anticipated jobs equals $41,700. 

(ii) Regional Wealth Creation (% sales/customers outside area):  N/A.  

(iii) In Region Purchases (% of overall purchases):  75% of the company’s 

total annual supplies, raw materials and vendor services are purchased from firms in Erie 

County. A list of major vendors was supplied as part of the application. 

(iv) Research & Development Activities:  N/A. 

(v) Investment in Energy Efficiency:  N/A. 

(vi) Locational Land Use Factors, Brownfields or Locally Designated 

Development Areas:  Project is located on a NYS DEC Brownfield Cleanup Site and is 

located in distressed census tract #174. 

(vii) LEED/Renewable Resources:  N/A.  

(viii) Retention/Flight Risk:  N/A.   

(ix) MBE/WBE Utilization: A statement from Uniland indicating details of 

their commitment to working with a diversified workforce of skilled labor and general 

business owners while encouraging substantive M/WBE participation among all 

contractors was provided to the Agency. 



 

6 

(x) Workforce Access-Proximity to Public Transportation:  The project site is 

approximately .5 miles from NFTA bus line $42.    

Section 2. The Agency hereby authorizes the undertaking of the Project and the 

provision of the Financial Assistance to the Company as described herein.   

 

Section 3.  Subject to the Company executing an Agent Agreement and the delivery 

to the Agency of a binder, certificate or other evidence of insurance for the Project satisfactory to 

the Agency, the Agency hereby authorizes the Company to proceed with the acquisition, 

construction and equipping of the Project and hereby appoints the Company as the true and 

lawful agent of the Agency: (i) to acquire, construct and/or renovate and equip the Project; (ii) to 

make, execute, acknowledge and deliver any contracts, orders, receipts, writings and 

instructions, as the stated agent for the Agency with the authority to delegate such agency, in 

whole or in part, to agents, subagents, contractors, and subcontractors of such agents and 

subagents and to such other parties as the Company chooses; and (iii) in general, to do all things 

which may be requisite or proper for completing the Project, all with the same powers and the 

same validity that the Agency could do if acting in its own behalf; provided, however, the 

authority to appoint the Company to act as agent of the Agency, if said appointment is not duly 

made, as herein expressed, shall expire one year from the date of this resolution (unless extended 

for good cause by the Chair, the Vice Chair, the President/Chief Executive Officer, the Vice 

President, the Chief Financial Officer/Treasurer, and/or the Assistant Treasurer).  

A. Financial Assistance.  With respect to the foregoing, and based upon the 

representations and warranties made by the Company in its application for Financial Assistance, 

the Agency hereby: 

(i) authorizes and approves the Company, as its agent, to make purchases of 

goods and services relating to the Project and that would otherwise be subject to New 

York State and local sales and use tax in an amount estimated up to $9,543,858, and, 

therefore, the value of the sales and use tax exemption benefits (“sales and use tax 

exemption benefits”) authorized and approved by the Agency cannot exceed $835,087, 

however, the Agency may consider any requests by the Company for increases to the 

amount of sales and use tax exemption benefits authorized by the Agency upon being 

provided with appropriate documentation detailing the additional purchases of property 

or services; and 

(ii) authorizes and approves that the value of the mortgage recording tax 

exemption benefit (“mortgage recording tax exemption benefits”) shall not exceed 

$70,235; and 

(iii) authorizes and approves that the real property tax abatement benefits 

(“PILOT benefits”) to be provided over the term of the PILOT Agreement are estimated 

to be approximately $2,185,081, resulting in estimated total PILOT payments of 

$580,412 over the term of the PILOT Agreement.   

B. Terms and Conditions of Financial Assistance.  Pursuant to Section 875(3) of the 

New York General Municipal Law, and per the policies of the Agency, the Agency may recover 



 

7 

or recapture from the Company, its agents, consultants, subcontractors, or any other party 

authorized to make purchases for the benefit of the Project, any New York State and local sales 

and use tax exemption benefits, and/or mortgage recording tax exemption benefits, and/or partial 

abatements from real property taxes benefits taken or purported to be taken by the Company, its 

agents, consultants, subcontractors, or any other party authorized to make purchases for the 

benefit of the Project, if it is determined that: (i) the Company, its agents, consultants, 

subcontractors, or any other party authorized to make purchases for the benefit of the Project, is 

not entitled to the New York State and local sales and use tax exemption benefits; (ii) the New 

York State and local sales and use tax exemption benefits are in excess of the amounts 

authorized to be taken by the Company, its agents, consultants, subcontractors, or any other party 

authorized to make purchases for the benefit of the Project; (iii) the New York State and local 

sales and use tax exemption benefits are for property or services not authorized by the Agency as 

part of the Project; (iv) the Company has made a material false statement on its application for 

Financial Assistance; (v) the New York State and local sales and use tax exemption benefits 

and/or mortgage recording tax exemption benefits, and/or the partial abatement from real 

property taxes benefits are taken in cases where the Company, its agents, consultants, 

subcontractors, or any other party authorized to make purchases for the benefit of the Project, 

fails to comply with the Investment Commitment, the Employment Commitment, and/or the 

Local Labor Commitment, said commitments, as described below, being a material term or 

condition to use property or services in the manner approved by the Agency in connection with 

the Project; and/or (vi) the New York State and local sales and use tax exemption benefits, 

and/or mortgage recording tax exemption benefits, and/or the partial abatement from real 

property taxes benefits are taken in cases where the Company fails to comply with the Equal Pay 

Commitment and/or the Unpaid Real Property Tax Policy Commitment, as described below, 

being a material term or condition to use property or services in the manner approved by the 

Agency in connection with the Project.   

As a condition precedent of receiving Financial Assistance, the Company, its agents, 

consultants, subcontractors, or any other party authorized to make purchases for the benefit of 

the Project, must cooperate with the Agency in its efforts to recover or recapture any Financial 

Assistance, and promptly pay over any such amounts to the Agency that the Agency demands. 

C. Commitments.  As an additional condition precedent of receiving Financial 

Assistance, and as a material term or condition as approved by the Agency in connection with 

the Project, the Company covenants and agrees and understands that it must, subject to potential 

modification, termination and/or recapture of Financial Assistance for failure to meet and 

maintain the commitments and thresholds as described below, submit, on an annual basis or as 

otherwise indicated below through the termination of the PILOT Agreement, a certification, as 

so required by the Agency, confirming:  

(i) Investment Commitment- the total investment actually made with respect to the 

Project at the time of Project completion equals or exceeds $16,738,840 (which 

represents the product of 85% multiplied by $19,692,754, being the total project 

cost as stated in the Company’s application for Financial Assistance). 

(ii) Employment Commitment –that within two (2) years of Project completion, the 

Company has created and maintained FTE employment at the Facility equal to 34 



 

8 

FTE employees [representing the product of 85% multiplied by 41 (being the 41 

new FTE employee positions proposed to be created by the Company as stated in 

its Application)].  In an effort to confirm and verify the Company’s employment 

numbers, the Agency requires that, at a minimum, the Company provide 

employment data to the Agency on a quarterly basis, said information to be 

provided on the Agency’s “Quarterly Employment Survey” form to be made 

available to the Company by the Agency. 

(iii) Local Labor Commitment - that the Company adheres to and complies with the 

Agency’s Local Labor Workforce Certification Policy on a quarterly basis during 

the construction period. 

(iv) Equal Pay Commitment – that the Company adheres to and complies with the 

Agency’s Pay Equity Policy. 

(v) Unpaid Real Property Tax Policy Commitment – that the Company is compliant 

with the Agency’s Unpaid Real Property Tax Policy.  

Section 4. Subject to the terms of this Inducement Resolution, the Chair, the Vice 

Chair, the President/Chief Executive Officer, the Vice President, the Chief Financial 

Officer/Treasurer and/or the Assistant Treasurer, are hereby authorized, on behalf of the Agency, 

to negotiate, execute and deliver (A) an Agent Agreement, (B) the Lease Agreement whereby the 

Company leases the Project to the Agency, (C) the related Leaseback Agreement whereby the 

Agency leases the Project back to the Company, and (D) the PILOT Agreement and (E) related 

documents; provided, however, that (i) the rental payments under the Leaseback Agreement to 

the Company include payments of all costs incurred by the Agency arising out of or related to 

the Project and indemnification of the Agency by the Company for actions taken by the 

Company and/or claims arising out of or related to the Project; and (ii) the terms of the PILOT 

Agreement are consistent with the Agency’s Uniform Tax Exemption Policy, or procedures for 

deviation have been complied with accordingly. 

 Section 5. Subject to the terms of this Inducement Resolution, the Chair, the Vice 

Chair, the President/Chief Executive Officer, the Vice President, the Chief Financial 

Officer/Treasurer and/or the Assistant Treasurer, are hereby authorized, on behalf of the Agency, 

to negotiate, execute and deliver any mortgage, assignment of leases and rents, security 

agreement, UCC-1 Financing Statements and all documents reasonably contemplated by these 

resolutions or required by any lender identified by the Company (the “Lender”) up to a 

maximum principal amount necessary to undertake the Project, acquire the Facility and/or 

finance or refinance acquisition and Project costs or equipment and other personal property and 

related transactional costs (hereinafter, with the Lease Agreement, Leaseback Agreement, and 

related documents, collectively called the “Agency Documents”); and, where appropriate, the 

Secretary or the Assistant Secretary of the Agency is hereby authorized to affix the seal of the 

Agency to the Agency Documents and to attest the same, all with such changes, variations, 

omissions and insertions as the Chair, the Vice Chair, the President/Chief Executive Officer, the 

Vice President, the Chief Financial Officer/Treasurer and/or the Assistant Treasurer of the 

Agency shall approve, the execution thereof by the Chair, the Vice Chair, the President/Chief 

Executive Officer, the Vice President, the Chief Financial Officer/Treasurer and/or the Assistant 



 

9 

Treasurer of the Agency to constitute conclusive evidence of such approval; provided in all 

events recourse against the Agency is limited to the Agency’s interest in the Project. 

 Section 6. The officers, employees and agents of the Agency are hereby authorized 

and directed for and in the name and on behalf of the Agency to do all acts and things required 

and to negotiate, execute and deliver all such certificates, instruments and documents, to pay all 

such fees, charges and expenses and to do all such further acts and things as may be necessary or, 

in the opinion of the officer, employee or agent acting, desirable and proper to effect the 

purposes of the foregoing resolutions and to cause compliance by the Agency with all of the 

terms, covenants and provisions of the documents executed for and on behalf of the Agency. 

 Section 7. The provision by the Agency of Financial Assistance with respect to the 

Project as described herein is subject to the execution and delivery of the Agency’s 

Administrative Fee Agreement (the “Fee Agreement”) and payment by the Company of an 

administrative fee calculated in accordance with the Fee Agreement, all within sixty (60) days of 

the date of this resolution.  In the event the Agency has not received the executed Fee Agreement 

and the appropriate fee within such sixty (60) day period, this resolution shall become 

automatically null and void and of no further effect and the Agency shall have no liability to the 

Company hereunder or otherwise, unless extended in the discretion of the Chair, the Vice Chair, 

the President/Chief Executive Officer, the Vice President, the Chief Financial Officer/Treasurer, 

or the Assistant Treasurer for good cause shown. 

Section 8. This resolution shall take effect immediately, and shall expire one (1) year 

from the date hereof unless extended for good cause by the Chair, the Vice Chair, the 

President/Chief Executive Officer, the Vice President, the Chief Financial Officer/Treasurer, or 

the Assistant Treasurer.  

Dated:  November 30, 2022 












































































































